RECEIVED

03-28-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP000108 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES V. MATALONIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT WITH THE HONORABLE WILBER W. WARREN, III PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MARK D. RICHARDS

State Bar No. 1006324

BRIAN P. DIMMER State Bar No. 1073944

MARK D. RICHARDS, S.C. Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant 209 Eighth Street Racine, WI 53403 262-632-2200 richardslaw@ameritch.net brianpdimmer@ameritech.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the trial court properly denied the Defendant's motion to suppress evidence obtained from a community caretaker sweep of his residence?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary as the Defendant anticipates that the briefs of the parties will fully meet and discuss the issues on appeal. Publication would be appropriate as the published opinion would establish a new rule of law or modify, clarify or criticize an existing rule. Wis. Stats. §§ 809.22 and 809.23(1)(a)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant-Appellant (hereafter Matalonis) filed a motion before the trial court to suppress evidence seized during a search of his residence. Three witnesses testified at the motion hearing—Officer Brian Ruha, Officer David Yandel, and Matalonis. R. 34; 2.

Officers Brian Ruha and David Yandel initially responded to a "med call" at 510 45th Street, which was not Matalonis' residence. R. 34; 6, 41-42. They met with Antony, Matalonis' brother, who appeared intoxicated as well as battered and covered in blood on his right side. R. 34; 6, 41. Antony indicated that four people beat him up outside a bar. R. 34; 7. The responding rescue squad took Antony to the hospital. R. 34; 7.

After meeting with Antony, the officers followed a trail of blood on the snow from 510 45th Street to 4418 5th Avenue, Matalonis' residence. R. 34; 7-8, 42. They saw blood on the side door of the residence and heard "two loud bangs coming from inside," but the bangs were not gunshots. R. 34; 8, 25, 43. Yandel admitted that the noises inside the house sounded like "[t]hings being shuffled around in the house." R. 34; 50. After calling for backup, they proceeded to the front door of the residence. R. 34; 9, 43.

The officers knocked on the front door, and Matalonis opened it. R. 34; 9. Matalonis admitted to the

officers that he had fought his brother, Antony. R. 34; 19, 44, 50, 62. Matalonis did not appear injured, but the officers could see blood on the floor of the foyer and inside the residence. R. #; 44. The officers asked Matalonis to allow them inside the residence after they explained wanting to come inside to make sure no one was injured. R. 34; 9, 44. Matalonis had been cleaning up—the officers acknowledged seeing a bucket and mop in the residence. R. 34; 25, 52, 62, 64. Instead of allowing Matalonis to continue cleaning, the officers entered the residence and ordered Matalonis to remain on the couch. R. 34; 11, 44, 63-64. They did not handcuff him or advise him he was "under arrest."

While Officer Yandel stayed next to Matalonis, Officer Ruha conducted a community caretaker sweep of the residence, "to make sure that no one else was inside the house or even injured in the house that needed medical attention." R. 34; 11. Ruha and Yandel acknowledged that they never had information of a second individual being injured, the only reported injury was Matalonis' brother, Antony. R. 34; 23, 37, 50. During the sweep, Ruha located blood in the living room, kitchen, and the stairs to the second floor. R. 34; 11-12.

Upstairs, Ruha testified that he observed blood on the handrail, a broken mirror, and small blood spatter on a locked door. R. 34; 12. Ruha did not testify to locating anyone in the living area upstairs or the bathroom, or hearing any noises or cries for help. R. 34; 12. Ruha also admitted that he "did smell a strong odor of marijuana coming through this [locked] door and [] heard a fan running." R. 34; 28. Moreover, Ruha recognized that the blood on the door was "the least amount of blood anywhere in the house." R. 34; 34. Ruha admitted he had no information that anybody was "bleeding out" behind the locked door. R. 34; 35. The lengthy sweep took Ruha about ten to fifteen minutes. R. 34; 65.

Ruha returned downstairs to confront Matalonis about the locked door. R. 34; 14. Ruha gave Matalonis the option of either providing the key to Ruha or threatened to kick the door in. R. 34; 14, 54, 65. Matalonis told Ruha that the room was full of security cameras for his house, but Ruha insisted that he either provide the key or they would kick in the door. R. 34; 15, 65. Matalonis did not consent to Ruha entering the room, but Ruha found the key and entered the locked room. R. 34; 15, 55-57, 65-68.

When Officer Ruha entered the locked room, he did not locate any persons, injured or otherwise. R. 34; 16. They did locate four marijuana plants. R. 34; 16. Ruha noted that he observed other drug paraphernalia on the second-floor living room area, such as pipes, smoking utensils, and a water bong. R. 34; 16-17, 27. When Ruha finished searching the now-unlocked room, he returned to further interview Matalonis about the altercation with his brother Antony. R. 34; 17. Ruha only attempted to obtain a search warrant after they entered the locked upstairs room. R. 34; 34.

The court denied Matalonis' motion to suppress at the conclusion of testimony and after hearing the parties' arguments. R. 34; 83-89. A-App. 102-108. Matalonis subsequently entered a no contest plea to delivering/manufacturing four plants of marijuana. R. 35. The court sentenced Matalonis to 18 months' probation. R. 26, 36. A-App. 110-111. Matalonis filed a timely notice of intent to seek post-conviction relief and a timely notice of appeal. R. 31, 33.

ARGUMENT

I. EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM THE LOCKED ROOM IN MATALONIS' UPSTAIRS VIOLATED HIS FOURTH AMENDMENT CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AGAINST WARRANTLESS SEARCHES AND SEIZURES.

A. Trial court ruling.

The circuit court first noted that the only factual dispute was whether Matalonis had consented to the officers entering his home from outside. R. 34; 83. A-App. 102 To resolve that dispute, the court reasoned that hot or fresh pursuit, established in Bringham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398 (2006); Warden v. Hayden, 387 U.S. 294 (1967); and State v. Larsen, 2007 WI App 147, 302 Wis.2d 718, 736 N.W.2d 211. The court specified that "if there's an objective, reasonable basis for belief by law enforcement that an occupant of the home is seriously injured or imminently threatened with injury, no warrant is required." R. 34; 83. A-App. 102. The court noted that the hot or fresh pursuit analysis was not the "community caretaker exception," but the court did clarify that the latter was equally applicable. R. 34; 84. A-App. 103.

The court's analysis relied heavily on Antony's statement that he fought four other persons at a bar. R. 34; 84. A-App. 103. The court suggested that the officers could reasonably be concerned for the safety of these individuals once they followed the blood trail back to Matalonis' residence. R. 34; 85. A-App. 104. The court ignored evidence about how the officers located the key to the locked room. R. 34; 86. A-App. 105.

B. Standard of Review.

"When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress evidence, [the appellate court] uphold[s] the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous." State v. Maddix, 2013 WI App 64, ¶ 12, 348 Wis. 2d 179, 831 N.W.2d 778 (citations omitted). "[T]he application of constitutional principles to facts is a question of law that we review de novo." Id. (citations omitted). Accordingly, this court should "independently review whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the federal and state Constitutions." Id. (citations omitted).

C. Applicable legal standards.

"The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures." Maddix, 2013 WI App 64 at ¶ 13. (quotations and citations omitted). Warrantless searches are considered *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject to a few well-delineated exceptions. <u>Id</u>. (quotations and citations omitted). "The State has the burden of establishing that a warrantless entry into a home occurred pursuant to a recognized exception to the warrant requirement". <u>Id</u>. (citation omitted). One such exception involves an officer functioning as a "community caretaker."

"When acting as a community caretaker, an officer may conduct a search or seizure without probable cause or reasonable suspicion, as long as the search or seizure satisfies the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 14 (citing <u>State v. Kelsey C.R.</u>, 2001 WI 54, ¶34, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777). "[T]he warrantless entry of a residence is more suspect and subject to stricter scrutiny than entry and search of a motor vehicle. Id. at ¶ 15 (citing State v. Ultsch, 2011 WI App 17, ¶18, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505). "When officers enter a residence pursuant to the community caretaker exception, they may also undertake a protective sweep when they reasonably believe, under the totality of the circumstances, that such a search is necessary to assure the safety of officers and others." Id. at ¶ 15 (citing State v. Horngren, 200 WI App 177, ¶ 20, 238 Wis. 2d 347, 617 N.W.2d 508).

Wisconsin courts apply a three-part test to determine whether an officer's conduct properly falls within the scope of the community caretaker exception. <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 16 (citing <u>State v. Pinkard</u>, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592). Specifically, the court must assess:

(1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

Id.

- D. The officers' search of the upstairs locked room was not objectively reasonable so as to satisfy the Community Caretaker Exception.
 - 1. <u>State v. Maddix</u>, should guide the court of appeal's decision reversing the trial court's denial of Matalonis' motion to suppress.

Maddix, 2013 WI App 64, decided after Matalonis' suppression motion hearing, confronted a very similar fact-pattern to Matalonis' case but held the community caretaker exception did *not* justify the search of a locked room. After responding to a call reporting a domestic disturbance at a residence, the Officers heard yelling and screaming in the upper portion of the residence. <u>Id.</u> at ¶¶ 2-3. When the officers made contact with Maddix, they entered the upstairs residence and ordered him to "stay right there." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 4. The officers located another person, a woman, but no one else was immediately apparent. <u>Id.</u> The officers testified that the woman's explanation for the screaming "did not make sense." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 7.

The officers, not believing the woman's explanation for the screaming, conducted a "protective sweep" of the residence to "make sure that there were no other people in the apartment, nobody that could either launch an attack against the officers or another possible victim in the apartment." <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 7. The officers did not have consent to conduct this search. <u>Id</u>. The officers eventually entered a closed, dark room, which they entered under the thought that they "didn't know if either another person or a victim

could be in that room." \underline{Id} . at ¶ 8. Inside the dark, closed room's closet, the officers located six marijuana plants under a fluorescent light. \underline{Id} .

The Court of Appeals held that the community caretaker exception did not justify the search of the residence as well as the overlooked room and closet. Before delving into the three-part test, the court clarified that the search of the other rooms and the final search of the closed, dark room was one search as opposed to two separate searches. <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 18. The court reasoned that the purpose of the search was the same for all the rooms: "the female's failure to explain the reason for screams that she reported having made." <u>Id.</u> Then, turning to the three-part community caretaker test, the court first established that the officers conducted a warrantless "search." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 19.

Turning to the second part, whether the officers' had an objectively reasonable basis for the protective sweep, the court distinguished Maddix's case from Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, 327 Wis. 2d 346; State v. Ultsch, 2011 WI App 17, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505; and State v. Garcia, 2013 WI 15, 345 Wis. 2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87, as "no evidence directly corroborated the officer's theory that another person was present in the apartment, who was either a crime victim or a perpetrator." Id. at ¶ 27.

In <u>Pinkard</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that officers had an objectively reasonable basis to enter a residence where:

- A caller informed officers that two people appeared to be sleeping next to cocaine, money, and a digital scale;
- The outside door to the residence was three-quarters open;
- Nobody responded when the officers knocked on the door and announced their presence.

2010 WI 81 at ¶¶ 2-4. The Court characterized these facts as a "close case." \underline{Id} . at ¶¶ 33, 35.

In <u>Ultsch</u>, the Court of Appeals found the officers entry into a residence was *not* supported by an objectively reasonable basis where:

- Officers were responding to a car accident;
- Officers located the damaged vehicle at the end of the driveway;
- Officers spoke with the vehicle driver's boyfriend, who confirmed that the driver was inside the residence sleeping;
- Officers attempted to make contact with the driver after the boyfriend left the residence but received no response;
- Officers located no evidence of injury to the driver, such as blood.

2011 WI App 17, at ¶¶ 2, 4-5, 19-21.

Finally, in <u>Garcia</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court upheld officers' exercise of the community caretaker function, finding an objectively reasonable basis where:

- Officers observed significant damage to Garcia's vehicle and the traffic signal that she struck with her vehicle;
- Garcia's brother's apparent concern for her well-being and decision to force open the bedroom door.

2013 WI 15, at ¶¶ 21-22. The <u>Maddix</u> court applied these cases and held that officers lacked an objectively reasonable basis to enter the closed, dark room where:

- Officers were responding to a domestic disturbance call;
- Officers heard screaming from inside the residence when they arrived;
- Maddix and the woman were the only persons who appeared to be in the apartment;
- Officers were not satisfied with the woman's explanation for screaming;
- No other evidence suggested that another person was present in the apartment, such as noises, nervous behavior, or statements implying that another person was present;

2013 WI App 64, at ¶¶ 26-29. Taken together, the <u>Maddix</u> court found that the officers lacked an objectively reasonable basis to conclude that there is a need to render assistance, even if the officers' credibly testified that they had a subjective belief of such. <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 30.

Turning lastly to the third test, a balancing test, the <u>Maddix</u> court held that the public interest did not outweigh the degree and nature of the intrusion on Maddix's constitutional rights. <u>Id</u>. at ¶ 31. The court considered the following four factors:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id.

The court recognized that the public's interest and the exigency was minimal where Maddix and the woman explained the screaming and were cooperative as well as the fact that the officers waited twenty-five to thirty minutes before performing the search itself. Id. at ¶¶ 32-33. The court determined that the second factor did not weigh strongly in either direction. Id. at ¶ 34. Specifically, although the officers were responding to a domestic disturbance and did not display their weapons or threaten anyone, they did conduct a continued search of the residence without consent. Id. at ¶ 34. In assessing the third factor, the court noted the "heightened privacy interest in preventing intrusions into one's home." Id. at ¶ 35.

Finally, the Maddix court assessed whether alternatives existed. possible including effectiveness, to the intrusion into the closed, dark room and closet. The court reasoned that although the officers need not take at face value the statements of either Maddix or the woman, they failed to probe each on the topic of whether anyone else was still inside the Id. at ¶ 36, Combined with Maddix's residence. statement that it was only he and the woman inside the the court deemed the residence. that exercised the caretaker function. unreasonably regardless of whether it was a bona fide function at all. Id.

Overall, the court warned that allowing the community caretaker exception to justify the protective sweep in Maddix's case would "justify virtually any 'sweep' as part of a police response to an alleged domestic disturbance." Id. at ¶ 37.

2. Applying Maddix to Matalonis' case, the officers' protective sweep should not fall under the community caretaker exception.

Here in Matalonis' case, this court should apply <u>Maddix</u> to correct the trial court's decision to deny his suppression motion. Factually, Maddix and Matalonis' case have much in common:

- Officers responded to a domestic disturbance at a residence during the early-morning hours. R. 34; 6, 41-42.
- Officers observed signs that a disturbance occurred inside the residence. R. 34; 25, 44, 52, 62, 64.
- Officers received an explanation of what had occurred, but a subjective belief that a protective sweep is needed to search for other persons either in need or posing a threat. R. 34; 9, 44.
- No specific evidence existed that any other person was located in the house, whether or not in need of assistance. R. 34; 23, 37, 50.
- The non-consensual sweeping of the residence revealed marijuana plants in a closed room. R. 34; 16.

As in <u>Maddix</u>, this court should hold that the community caretaker exception does not apply to justify the officers' protective sweep of the residence. The court should characterize the officers' protective sweep as one search, despite the delay between the initial sweep of the residence and unlocking the upstairs room. As Officer Ruha testified that he

conducted a protective sweep of the residence "to make sure that no one else was inside the house or even injured in the house that needed medical attention." R. 34; 11. Accordingly, the court must evaluate whether objectively reasonable at the outset, rather than assess the basis for search on a room by room basis. See Maddix, 2013 WI App 64 at ¶¶ 18-19.

Applying the three-part community caretaker test, this court should first find that the officers conducted a search regardless of whether they described it as a protective sweep. R. 34; 11. Neither the parties nor the court argued that the officer's sweep did not constitute a search, so that argument should be waived on appeal.

Second, this court should find that the officers lacked an objectively reasonable basis to conduct the protective sweep of the residence, particularly after they entered the residence and spoke with Matalonis. The record shows the following information was known by the officers immediately prior to conducting the protective sweep:

- A blood trail went from Matalonis' residence to the other residence where the officers first responded and made contact with Antony. R. 34: 7-8, 42.
- Matalonis' brother Antony had been injured and was receiving treatment. R. 34; 6, 41.
- Antony told the officers that four people beat him up outside a bar. R. 34; 7.
- Blood was on the side outside door of Matalonis' residence. R. 34; 8, 25, 43.

- Two loud bangs coming from inside the residence. R. 34; 8, 25, 43.
- Blood was visible in the foyer and inside the residence. R. 34; 44.
- Matalonis admitted to fighting his brother Antony at the residence. R. 34; 19, 44, 50, 62.
- Matalonis was cleaning up after the fight, and he had a bucket and mop out. R. 34; 25, 52, 62, 64.
- No information or evidence existed that a third individual besides Matalonis or Antony was injured or a threat. R. 34; 23, 37, 50.
- The officers never inquired whether others were present in the residence. R. 34; 23, 37, 50.

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