RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-02-2015

IN SUPREME COUR **COUR COUR COUR COUR**

No. 2014AP108-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

CHARLES V. MATALONIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON A PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION REVERSING AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILBER W. WARREN, III, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent -Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The officers' warrantless search of Matalonis's residence was constitutionally reasonable. After taking a complaint from a battered and intoxicated Antony, officers followed a blood trail through the snow to Matalonis's residence. The officers' entry into the residence was justified under either the consent exception or community caretaking exception to the warrant requirement. Once inside the residence, officers observed additional blood on the main floor and leading up the stairs to the second floor. These plain view observations justified the officers' sweep of the residence under: (a) the community caretaking doctrine to look for other persons who may have been injured at the residence; and (b) the protective sweep doctrine to check for persons who may have posed harm to the officers as they investigated the battery that had occurred inside the home. When an officer checked the second floor, he encountered a locked door that had blood spatter on it. The officer subsequently located the key and opened the door to check for people, but found a marijuana plant and paraphernalia associated with growing marijuana inside.

Based upon the totality of the circumstances, the officers' extension of their community caretaker check and protective sweep into the locked room for persons was constitutionally reasonable. Officers acted within the scope of the plain view doctrine when they seized contraband from the residence, including the locked room.

ARGUMENT

The officers acted reasonably when they followed a blood trail through Matalonis's home looking for other persons who may have been injured or posed a danger to the officers as they investigated a battery that had occurred inside the home.

I. Introduction.

A. Constitutional provisions interpreted.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, protect "[t]he right of the people to be secure in persons. their houses. papers. and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. This Court has generally conformed its "interpretation of Article I, Section 11 and its attendant protections with the law developed by the United States Supreme Court under the Fourth Amendment." See State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 13, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516; see also State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598 ("Pursuant to our usual practice, we shall interpret the provisions of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 as equivalent in regard to community caretaker analyses.").

B. Standard of review.

On review, an appellate court will uphold a circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 12, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. But an appellate court independently

reviews the circuit court's application of the relevant constitutional principles to those facts. *Id.* Whether police conduct violates the guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures presents a question of constitutional fact. *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 16. An appellate court decides constitutional questions independently, benefiting from the analysis of the circuit court. *State v. Kieffer*, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998).

C. The constitutionality of a warrantless search turns on the reasonableness of the officers' actions.

The Fourth Amendment and Article 1, § 11 of the Wisconsin constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 13. "The ultimate standard set forth in the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." *Id.* (quoting *Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 439 (1973)). The State bears the burden of establishing reasonableness of the search by clear and convincing evidence. *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 17 (warrantless search must be reasonable to be in compliance with the Fourth Amendment).

In assessing reasonableness, courts have recognized that "[a] reasonable judgment by the police at the scene should not lightly be overturned by the courts. 'Judicial retrospective mulling fails to effectively weigh exigencies unless considered in the perspective of the immediacy confronting the officer." State v. Drogsvold, 104 Wis. 2d 247, 268, 311 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1981) (quoting State v. Donovan, 91 Wis. 2d 401, 414, 283 N.W.2d 431, 436 (Ct. App. 1979)). "But we do not apply hindsight to the exigency analysis; we consider only the circumstances known to the officer at the time he made the entry and evaluate the reasonableness of the officer's action in light of those circumstances." State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 43, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29 (assessing reasonableness under exigent circumstances exception). See also State v. Krause, 168 Wis. 2d 578, 589, 484 N.W.2d 347 (Ct. App. 1992) (reasonableness of action by police judged from perspective of reasonable officer at scene rather than 20/20 hindsight). In sum, a court's inquiry into reasonableness does not demand that an officer's determinations "always be correct, but that they always be reasonable." *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 186-87 (1990).

D. Matalonis does not dispute the lawfulness of the officers' entry into his home.

Before the circuit court, Matalonis challenged the lawfulness of the officers' entry into his home (34:82; Pet-Ap. 207). Judge Warren upheld the officers' initial entry into Matalonis's residence on both consent and community caretaker grounds (34:83-85; Pet-Ap. 208-10). On appeal, Matalonis did "not contest the officers' initial entry into his residence." Matalonis's Court of Appeals' brief at 16.

The lawfulness of the officers' initial entry into Matalonis's home is not at issue before this Court. *Matalonis*, slip op. ¶ 13 (Pet-Ap. 106). Rather, the focus is on whether the officers acted reasonably after they lawfully entered Matalonis's home. Said another way, did the officers actions inside the home fall within the scope of the community caretaker or protective sweep doctrines?¹

¹ If this Court concludes that the officers lawfully entered the locked room, then the officers lawfully seized the items observed inside the room in plain view. "[U]nder the 'plain view' doctrine, an object falling within the plain view of an officer who rightfully is in a position to have that view is subject to valid seizure and may be introduced into evidence." See State v. Carroll, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 21, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1; see also State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 62, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592 (upholding the lawfulness of the seizure of items within plain view when officers' initial intrusion fell within the scope of the community caretaker exception).

II. Under the community caretaking doctrine, the officers acted reasonably when they searched the locked room for other persons who may have been injured in a fight at Matalonis's home.

A. Introduction.

The officers acted reasonably and within the scope of the community caretaker doctrine when they followed the blood trail inside Matalonis's home, looking for persons who may have been injured during a fight with Antony.

The circuit court agreed that the officers' search of Matalonis's home for potentially injured people fell within the community caretaking function (34:85-87; Pet-Ap. 210-12). With respect to the search of the locked room, Judge Warren noted:

So it was reasonable for them to extend their search for injured parties to that area [the locked room]. Again, with someone who is bleeding, someone who is taken away by ambulance, to have a locked door in a house with blood on that door and not search behind that door and to later find that there's a dead body or a bleeding body or a person in need of medical assistance behind that door I think it would not only be improper, it would be a sign of poor police work. So under these circumstances, I think the officers were reasonable in consideration of all of those issues [including community caretaker] . . . in taking the actions that they did.

(34:87; Pet-Ap. 212).

The court of appeals disagreed, holding that the search did not fall within the community caretaker exception. *Matalonis*, slip op. ¶ 37 (Pet-Ap. 116). It concluded that the officers lacked an objectively reasonable basis from which they could conclude that anyone inside the home was injured. *Id.* ¶ 25 (Pet-Ap. 112). It also determined that the

public interest in the intrusion was minimal and did not outweigh the substantial intrusion on Matalonis's privacy interests. *Id.* ¶ 36 (Pet-Ap. 116).

The State respectfully disagrees and submits that the record supports the circuit court's conclusion that the officers acted reasonably within the scope of the community caretaker doctrine.

B. General legal principles governing a protective sweep.

Under the community caretaker doctrine, an officer may constitutionally perform warrantless searches and seizures of private homes for the purpose of protecting persons and property. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶¶ 14, 22. "An officer exercises a community caretaker function 'when the officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance."" *Id.* ¶ 18 (quoted source omitted).

To determine whether a warrantless home entry is permissible under the community caretaker exception, the reviewing court asks:

(1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred;

(2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and

(3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

Id. ¶ 29 (footnote omitted); see also Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414,
¶ 21, adopting the three-step test from State v. Anderson,
142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987).

Bona fide community caretaker function. Under the second question, a court must determine whether the officers were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function. Asked another way, did the officers have an objectively reasonable basis to believe that someone was hurt and needed assistance? In making this assessment, courts look to the totality of the circumstances at the time of the officers' conduct. State v. Gracia, 2013 WI 15, ¶ 17, 40, 345 Wis. 2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87.

An officer may simultaneously perform a bona fide community caretaker function while engaging in other law enforcement functions. An officer may possess legitimate "law enforcement concerns, even when the officer has an objectively reasonable basis for performing a community caretaker function." Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 32. Accordingly, this Court has "rejected the contention that community caretaker functions must be totally independent from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the commission of a crime." State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 44, ___ Wis. 2d ___, ___ N.W.2d ___ (citation omitted). An officer's subjective law enforcement concerns will not otherwise negate an objectively reasonable exercise of the community caretaker function. Kramer, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30.

Whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion into a person's privacy interest. The third, "reasonable exercise" or balancing question examines:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id. ¶ 41 (citation, and quotations omitted). No single factor is determinative. Gracia, 345 Wis. 2d 488, ¶ 23. "The stronger

the public need and the more minimal the intrusion upon an individual's liberty, the more likely the police conduct will be held to be reasonable." *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 41 (citation omitted).

When balancing the public's interest against the individual's privacy interest, a court considers whether the officers had less intrusive alternatives available to them. *Id.* ¶ 57. But a court should assess the feasibility of alternative options "in light of the exigency perceived by the officers." *Id.* ¶ 58.²

C. Officers acted reasonably and within the scope of their community caretaking function when they searched the locked room.

In Matalonis's case, the State readily concedes that the officer's entry into the locked room constituted a search for Fourth Amendment purposes. This Court must resolve: (1) whether the officers exercised a bona fide community

² In deciding Matalonis's case, the circuit court's analysis relied primarily on community caretaker grounds (34:85-86; Pet-Ap. 210-11). The circuit court also referenced the emergency doctrine, citing State v. Larsen, 2007 WI App 147, 302 Wis. 2d 718, 736 N.W.2d 211 (34:83-84; Pet-Ap. 208-09). The State is mindful of the distinction between the community caretaker exception and the emergency exception to the warrant requirement. Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 26 n.8. But these distinctions are not always easily applied. The "distinctions between these . . . doctrines can be frail, bordering on the meaningless. Neither have they been consistently applied, thus creating contradictory and sometimes conflicting doctrines." State v. Deneui, 2009 SD 99, ¶¶ 22, 54, 775 N.W.2d 221 (court ultimately applies the community caretaking doctrine rather than emergency or emergency aid doctrine to justify warrantless entry because officers did not have actual information that someone was in need of assistance but the officers "acted justifiably for the welfare of possible persons inside the residence").

caretaker function; and (2) under the balancing test, whether the public interest in the search outweighed Matalonis's privacy interest such that the officers' exercise of the community caretaking function was reasonable.

1. The officers reasonably exercised a bona fide community caretaker function.

Officers Ruha and Yandel exercised a bona fide community caretaker function when they searched the locked room in Matalonis's home. The officers wanted to search Matalonis's home and the locked room to make sure that no one else had sustained injuries in the altercation that led to Antony's hospitalization. Based upon the record, the officers had an objectively reasonable basis to believe that someone in addition to Antony may have been hurt and needed assistance.

> a. The officers' actions demonstrate that they were focused on looking for injured people.

Based upon the available information, the officers acted reasonably and out of a legitimate concern that another injured person may have been present inside Matalonis's home. The record demonstrates that the officers focused on looking for injured people.

When officers met Antony, he had been battered and beaten up (34:6, 41; Pet-Ap. 131, 166). Though intoxicated, Antony told the officers that "four different groups of people" beat him outside a bar. Later he stated that "four people" beat him outside a bar (34:7; Pet-Ap. 132). It would not be unreasonable for officers to conclude that other persons may have sustained injuries in the melee that resulted in Antony's injuries. After an ambulance transported Antony to the hospital, officers decided to follow the blood trail to determine where Antony had come from and whether anyone else was involved (34:7; Pet-Ap. 132). Officers followed the blood trail through the snow to Matalonis's home and observed blood on his home's side door (34:7-8, 42-43; Pet-Ap. 132-33, 167-68).

While alongside the residence, Officer Ruha "heard two loud bangs coming from inside the residence" (34:8, 25; Pet-Ap. 133, 150). Officer Ruha stated that they "had no idea what was going on inside the residence" (34:8; Pet-Ap. 133). Based upon the presence of a significant amount of blood, officers were concerned that someone inside might be injured and believed it was necessary to enter the home to check on the welfare of someone inside (34:43; Pet-Ap. 168).

Matalonis opened the door. Though out of breath, he did not have any apparent injuries (34:8-9, 44; Pet-Ap. 133-34, 169). But the officers noticed additional blood on the foyer's floor and leading up the stairwell (34:44; Pet-Ap. 169). Officers explained to Matalonis that they needed to enter his home to make sure that no one else inside was injured (34:9-10, 44; Pet-Ap. 134-35, 169).

Upon entry, Officer Ruha "conducted a protective sweep . . . to make sure that no one else was inside the house or even injured . . . [who] needed medical attention" (34:11; Pet-Ap. 136). As Officer Ruha explained, "I don't know if anyone is injured inside the house or if there's an aggressor in the house" (34:37; Pet-Ap. 162).

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